Regenerative Therapy 22 (2023) 160-168

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Regenerative Therapy

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/reth



V. Ravi ^{a, †}, A. Murashima-Suginami ^{a, b, d, †}, H. Kiso ^{a, b, d}, Y. Tokita ^c, C.L. Huang ^e, K. Bessho ^d, J. Takagi ^f, M. Sugai ^g, Y. Tabata ^h, K. Takahashi ^{a, b, d, *}

^a Toregem BioPharma Inc., Kyoto, Japan

^b Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Tazuke Kofukai Medical Research Institute, Kitano Hospital, Osaka, Japan

^c Department of Disease Model, Institute for Developmental Research, Aichi Human Service Center, Kasugai, Aichi, Japan

^d Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

^e Department of ThoracicSurgery, Tazuke Kofukai Medical Research Institute, Kitano Hospital, Osaka, Japan

^f Laboratory of Protein Synthesis and Expression, Institute for Protein Research, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan

^g Department of Molecular Genetics, Division of Medicine, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Fukui, Fukui, Japan

^h Laboratory of Biomaterials, Institute for Frontier Life and Medical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 6 August 2022 Received in revised form 19 December 2022 Accepted 12 January 2023

Keywords: USAG-1 neutralizing antibody EDA Tooth regeneration Congenital tooth agenesis

ABSTRACT

The lack of treatment options for congenital (0.1%) and partial (10%) tooth anomalies highlights the need to develop innovative strategies. Over two decades of dedicated research have led to breakthroughs in the treatment of congenital and acquired tooth loss. We revealed that by inactivating *USAG-1*, congenital tooth agenesis can be successfully ameliorated during early tooth development and that the inactivation promotes late-stage tooth morphogenesis in double knockout mice. Furthermore, Anti- *USAG-1* antibody treatment in mice is effective in tooth regeneration and can be a breakthrough in treating tooth agenesis and 10% of children worldwide suffering from partial tooth loss, early diagnosis will improve outcomes and the quality of life of patients. Understanding the role of pathogenic *USAG-1* variants, their interacting gene partners, and their protein functions will help develop critical biomarkers. Advances in next-generation sequencing, mass spectrometry, and imaging technologies will assist in developing companion and predictive biomarkers to help identify patients who will benefit from tooth regeneration. © 2023, The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	161
2.	Classification of tooth agenesis	161
3.	Genetics of tooth agenesis	162
4.	Third dentition	162
5.	MSX1 anomalies and tooth agenesis	163
6.	PAX9 anomalies and tooth agenesis	163
7.	Other genes anomalies associated with tooth agenesis	163
8.	Tooth regeneration in murine models	163
9.	Use of USAG-1 antibodies for tooth regeneration	163
10.	Advances from teeth atlas	164
11.	Beyond conventional approaches: Antibody-based tooth regeneration therapeutics	164

Peer review under responsibility of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine.

[†] These authors contributed equally to this work.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reth.2023.01.004



Review





Abbreviations: USAG-1, Uterine sensitization associated gene-1; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; CEBPB, CCAAT enhancer binding protein beta; EDA, Ectodysplasin A. * Corresponding author. Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Tazuke Kofukai Medical Research Institute, Kitano Hospital, 2-4-20, Ohgimachi, Kita-ku, Osaka, 530-8480, Japan. Fax: +81-6-6312-8867.

E-mail address: katsu-takahashi@kitano-hp.or.jp (K. Takahashi).

^{2352-3204/© 2023,} The Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

12.	Use of predictive biomarkers	. 164
13.	Conclusions	. 166
	Authors' contribution	. 166
	Ethics approval and consent to participate	. 166
	Consent for publication	. 166
	Availability of data and material	. 166
	Authors' information	. 166
	Funding	. 166
	Conflict of interest	. 166
	Acknowledgments	. 166
	References	. 166

1. Introduction

Loss of teeth due to congenital or acquired diseases or accidents is a common health condition in almost all age groups, especially in the aging populations. Current approaches to treating tooth loss include prostheses, transplantations, and dental implants. Therefore, to address the unmet needs of oral care, new strategies and therapeutic alternatives, such as tooth regeneration, are required for patients to regain normal food intake and lifestyle. However, this issue remains a challenge for dental researchers and the dental industry. Over the past decade, the integration of health and life science fundamentals with advanced chemistry and engineering has provided alternatives and advanced therapeutics for tooth regeneration [1]. Several regenerative methods, including scaffoldbased tissue regeneration, cell and tissue engineering, activation of the third dentition, and gene-edited tooth regeneration in animal models are being developed to improve the chances of regenerating lost teeth. Regeneration of teeth by activating the third dentition has proven to be a scientifically viable approach [2]. In this review, we present the scientific progress toward tooth regeneration that has resulted from almost two decades of research by the Takahashi group and other investigators.

2. Classification of tooth agenesis

Depending on the number of missing congenital teeth, tooth agenesis can be classified as hypodontia, oligodontia, and anodontia [3,4]. Another classification of tooth agenesis includes syndromic and non-syndromic forms, based on the accompanying syndromes of tooth loss. The syndromic form of the disease is associated with various systemic conditions and syndromes [5–8]. Patients with syndromic tooth agenesis may have accompanying anomalies such as delayed tooth formation and eruption, canine transposition, and enamel hypoplasia [3]. Other possible clinical indicators of tooth agenesis include ectodermal dysplasia, cleft lip, cleft palate, Down syndrome, and Van der Woude syndrome [9].

Non-syndromic tooth agenesis is more common than the syndromic form [5]. Patients with this form of tooth agenesis primarily present with congenitally missing teeth, which is the only apparent symptom. In addition, non-syndromic tooth agenesis can be sporadic or familial [7]. In sporadic cases, hypodontia (<6 missing teeth, usually 1–3 missing teeth) can be caused by environmental or genetic factors. This condition could signify tooth agenesis in patients without other associated syndromes [4]. In familial cases of tooth agenesis, hypodontia can serve as the only clinical indicator or as part of an associated syndrome [6] with autosomal dominant inheritance. In addition to the congenital, acquired, and environmental factors, other factors that cause tooth agenesis include *Rubella* virus infection and tooth agenesis due to orofacial trauma during odontogenesis [3]. Several studies have quantified craniofacial anomalies in patients with syndromic tooth agenesis. As a result of advances in molecular, next-generation sequencing, and imaging technologies, different underlying causes have been reported regarding the role of genetics and genomic variants in nonsyndromic tooth agenesis and their influence on tooth agenesis and associated medical conditions [10–16].

The timeline in Fig. 1 depicts the seminal findings over the past two decades, before identifying USAG-1 as a potential therapeutic target for tooth regeneration. This study established a system for efficient gene delivery to cranial neural crest cells using a recombinant adenovirus [17]. Subsequently, our group successfully demonstrated cartilage regeneration in cranial neural crest cells using a dominant-negative mutant that ectopically suppressed the function of MSX2 [18]. Further research was conducted to determine the number of teeth that could be regenerated and identify the molecular factors associated with tooth agenesis. Gene therapy and recombinant adenovirus system were used to achieve the desired results. A breakthrough came in 2007, when Suginami et al. first reported mice with USAG-1 deficiency and supernumerary teeth. This condition results from the active role of mesenchymal cells [19], which would otherwise have been lost due to apoptosis. A year later, the same group identified a significant role of BMP and Wnt signaling pathways in USAG-1-deficient mice that resulted in supernumerary teeth [20]. Tooth development is under both control of partner genes and interactive signaling between the oral epithelium and cranial mesenchyme [21]. Over the next five years, this group reported several cutting-edge findings that involve the interactions and role of USAG-1 and other partner genes, such as BMP7 and Runx 2 genes, in tooth development [22,23]. The focus on finding novel causative variants in Japanese patients with congenital tooth agenesis resulted in the discovery of WNT10A variants that play a crucial role in the development of lateral incisors, which are more sensitive to WNT and β -catenin signaling from other teeth [24]. Owing to the role of Sox 2 in stemness and proximity of CEBPB to Sox2, further functional analysis of CEBPB and *Runx2* in knockout (KO) mouse models demonstrated their role in supernumerary tooth formation in adults [25]. With over a decade of evidence and research on understanding the reasons behind supernumerary teeth in USAG-1-deficient mice, Kiso et al. provided another breakthrough. They determined whether these results could be applied to human tooth anomalies. Following reports that the third dentition in humans could result in supernumerary teeth formation, Kiso et al. performed a computed tomography scan study to evaluate the role of third dentition in supernumerary teeth



Fig. 1. Timeline of tooth regeneration breakthroughs in Takahashi's lab.

formation. They concluded that third dentition drives supernumerary tooth formation in humans, predominantly in male patients [26]. A year later, the same team reported using an antibody and siRNA against *USAG*-1 for tooth regeneration in mouse models [27]. This team is currently validating the efficacy of *USAG*-1 antibody treatment in other mammalian models of tooth agenesis before beginning a phase 1 clinical trial.

3. Genetics of tooth agenesis

Understanding tooth development is critical for examining and identifying the genetic factors that regulate the interactions between epithelial and mesenchymal cells. The number of teeth in all species is usually determined and evolutionarily conserved based on the form and function of teeth in the dentition. However, researchers have made breakthroughs by demonstrating how rudimentary incisor teeth survive and grow as supernumerary teeth due to the knockout of *USAG-1* (Fig. 1). Although this was a mouse study, the prospect of similar results in humans is still promising. Establishing these results in humans would support the suggestion that "third dentition," when activated, can form new teeth and occur in addition to permanent dentition [1].

In contrast to non-congenital reasons, congenitally missing permanent teeth are rare. Regular scientific and clinical reports on syndromic tooth agenesis and other abnormalities are available. Genetic factors play a crucial role in tooth development and are usually the cause of tooth agenesis. Over the last few decades, tooth transplantation and dental implant procedures have become treatment options for tooth agenesis.

Nearly 200 genes involved in different pathways are expressed at different sites and stages during tooth development [28]. Several animal models, primarily mice, serve as model organisms to elucidate the role of specific functional mutants and provide insights into the underlying biological and molecular mechanisms that lead to supernumerary tooth formation. With the current knowledge of supernumerary teeth biology, genetic components are thought to play a role in the partial or total activation of the third dentition in humans. Candidate genes are expected to play a role in stimulating embryonic teeth or in controlling the number and type of regenerated teeth. Thus, when activated or dysregulated, testing the biological role of candidate genes provides an excellent opportunity to improve and develop applications to successfully grow new teeth successfully [29].

4. Third dentition

Humans are typically diphyodonts that develop two successive sets of teeth, namely deciduous and permanent dentition. In addition to the permanent dentition in humans, a "third dentition" with one or more teeth can occur. In some cases, this third dentition is thought to develop as a partial dentition following permanent dentition [19,30,31]. Diphyodont dentition occurs in both mammals and humans [32]. In humans, deciduous or milk teeth are the first set of teeth. Except for molars, permanent teeth belong to the second generation. In the dental community, the term "third dentition" refers to an extra set of teeth that occur in addition to the primary and permanent teeth. Early reports of rudimentary third dentition in a few mammals were published in the 19th century [33]. In humans, a rudimentary epithelial form of the third dentition has been identified [34,35]. After almost a century, Ooë et al. observed that the epithelium that helps form the third dentition develops lingual to the permanent tooth germs [31]. In addition, when the epithelial anlagen was found, the permanent tooth germ was reportedly bell-shaped [31]. Detection of the third dentition during early childhood facilitates the visualization and characterization of hyperdontia in the mouth of infant and some fetuses. Thus, identifying the third dentition is a valuable tool for exploring its potential for successful tooth regeneration.

5. MSX1 anomalies and tooth agenesis

MSX1 encodes a DNA-binding protein that is located on chromosome 4 [36]. MSX1 interacts with TATA box-binding protein [37] and other transcription factors to regulate transcription rate [38–40]. The MSX1 protein is known to regulate gene expression, which is essential for initiating tooth development during the early phase of growth. The DNA-binding domains in MSX-1 regulate other interacting gene partners associated with pathways leading to tooth formation [41]. Alterations in MSX1 and PAX9 expression are associated with autosomal dominant inheritance of tooth agenesis and oligodontia and a decrease in tooth size, respectively [42]. Defects in MSX1 and PAX9 disrupt the early phase of tooth formation, leading to the loss of different teeth [43–49]. The nature, presence, and location of mutations in homeobox genes result in altered tooth agenesis phenotypes. For example, missense mutations in MSX1 result in familial tooth agenesis, nonsense mutations lead to aggravated tooth agenesis and nail abnormalities, and the absence of the C-terminal sequence in MSX1 results in orofacial clefts [50]. MSX1 and PAX9 variants are observed in <1% of patients, whereas WNT10A variations are frequently detected in 25-50% of patients with congenital tooth agenesis.

6. PAX9 anomalies and tooth agenesis

PAX9 encodes a transcription factor essential for the natural arrangement and structure of teeth [51–53]. The DNA-binding domain was found in exon 2 of *PAX9*. Mutations in the paired domain of *PAX9* cause tooth agenesis [54,55]. The absence or low expression of or mutations in the start codon of *PAX9* are known to cause critical defects in the premolars [56,57].

7. Other genes anomalies associated with tooth agenesis

A few other genes are known to play a role in oligodontia or other types of tooth agenesis, such as *EDA*, *WNT10A*, *AXIN2*, *LTBP3*, and *TP*63 [58].

8. Tooth regeneration in murine models

Following the successful identification and reporting of mice with *USAG-1* deficiency and supernumerary teeth in 2007, Takahashi et al. used mouse models and molecular techniques to demonstrate successful tooth regeneration. Mating mice with congenital tooth agenesis and supernumerary teeth revealed phenotypic changes in a double-t KO mouse. Development of both the maxillae and mandibles was arrested in the early stages in *USAG-1^{+/+}/Msx1^{-/-}* mice. However, histological observations revealed that all mice lacking both *USAG-1* and *Msx1* had regular third maxillary molars. Following these findings, researchers considered the genomic and functional significance of *EDA1* in tooth agenesis and analyzed $EDA1^{-/-}/USAG-1^{-/-}$ mice for tooth regeneration. $EDA1^{-/-}/USAG-1^{-/-}$ mice had normal teeth, hyperdontia, or combined mandibular molars. Molar hypodontia in the mandible was detected in 75% of the female *USAG-1^{+/+}/EDA1^{-/-}*

and male *USAG-1*^{+/+}/*EDA1*^{+/-} mice. Phenotypes such as hair loss and tail kinks, typically associated with tabby mice, were also detected in all *USAG-1*/*EDA1* double KO mice. This study further revealed that by inactivating *USAG-1*, congenital tooth agenesis can be successfully ameliorated during early tooth development and that this inactivation promotes late-stage tooth morphogenesis [59].

9. Use of USAG-1 antibodies for tooth regeneration

Single systemic and dose-dependent administration of USAG-1targeting antibodies in *EDA1*-deficient and wild-type mice [59] ameliorated tooth agenesis and promoted normal tooth formation. These findings established a significant role for USAG-1 and USAG-1-targeted antibodies in promoting tooth regeneration. The antibodies generated by neutralizing *USAG-1* action on BMP signaling and reducing low *Lrp5/6* dosage recovered the *USAG-1*-null phenotype, including hyperdontia [59,60]. However, several mice died in this *Lrp5/6* study, thereby obscuring any information on Wnt signaling regulation. Thus, Takahashi's group aimed to overcome these shortcomings by performing further analyses, including detailed protein analysis of additional USAG-1–targeting antibodies. Observations from such experiments have revealed associations between causal genes, including *Msx1* and *USAG-1*, and successful tooth regeneration in congenital tooth agenesis mice.

A single systemic administration of USAG-1-targeting antibodies did not cause any side effects in this mouse lineage. Notably, USAG-1 abrogation prevented the development of cleft palates by regulating Wnt signaling in *Pax* 9-deficient mice [61]. In addition, smallmolecule Wnt agonists reportedly correct cleft palate in *Pax*9deficient mice [62]. *EDA* controls BMP activity [63] and *EDAR* targets *Wnt* genes [64,65]. However, USAG-1-targeting antibodies did not result in tooth recovery in any of these cases. Nonetheless, genes and mutations associated with congenital tooth agenesis may be potential biomarkers for patient selection.

A single systemic dose of EDA antibody rescued congenital tooth agenesis in *EDA*-deficient canines [66]. Likewise, administering a *USAG-1*—neutralizing antibody, which targets BMP signaling, but not Wnt signaling, can rescue congenital tooth agenesis. Thus, *USAG-1*-targeting antibodies can be tailored to focus on specific signaling pathways. Next-generation sequencing and imaging technologies can identify molecular vulnerabilities and thereby focus on *USAG-1*-neutralizing antibody selection and use for treating congenital tooth agenesis. *USAG-1*-neutralizing antibody did not prevent tooth loss in any of the cases. Nonetheless, genes and mutations associated with congenital tooth agenesis may be potential biomarkers for patient selection.

Takahashi et al. successfully generated new teeth using USAG-1targeted antibodies [59]. After receiving these antibodies, no abnormal symptoms apart from the usual phenotypic changes were observed in wild-type mice compared to USAG-1-KO mice. This suggests that, in EDA1-deficient mice, the third dentition can be activated using USAG-1-targeting antibodies, which regenerate regular teeth. After analyzing 78 patients with supernumerary teeth, researchers concluded that third dentition was the cause of these additional teeth [26]. This finding suggests strategies to monitor outcomes in patients receiving targeted molecular therapy to stimulate the third dentition. The researchers also demonstrated that systemic application of USAG-1-targeting antibodies in ferrets could regenerate a tooth similar to the third dentition. This result is encouraging given that ferrets share dental patterns similar to those of humans. However, the clinical application of USAG-1targeting antibodies to regenerate lost teeth requires further safety and efficacy validation in nonrodent models.

The inhibition of BMP signalling in early mandible by exogenous Noggin protein resulted in ectopic Barx-1 expression in the distal presumptive incisor mesenchyme and transformation of tooth identity from incisor to molar [67]. However, any specific factors for all the 28 types of human teeth are not identified. It is possible to control the eruption of regenerated tooth with accurate morphology, adequate calcification, correct eruption timing and region by administration of anti-USAG-1 antibody [29,59]. Because USAG-1 protein has only the potential to rescue the developmental arrested tooth germ, that had been programmed the certain tooth type [1,2,19,20,22,23,29,59]. Furthermore, our strategy of tooth regeneration is acellular system [59]. It is enough to administrate only anti-USAG-1 antibody [59]. Our observation demonstrates that the morphology of supernumerary teeth is depended on the position. If it erupts in the incisor or molar region, its shape is incisor or molar [59].

10. Advances from teeth atlas

Regenerative therapies require an extensive understanding of the human organs. Whole organ and tissue functional reconstitution and regeneration depend primarily on stem cell composition. In human dental pulp and periodontium, the expression of different genes, including FRZB, THY1, and MYH11, aid in the characterization and classification of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). FRZB as a reliable marker based on FRZB's ability to markedly identify periodontal region to dental mesenchyme from early stages of odontogenesis, by allowing Wnt molecules and thus regulating the Wnt-dependent transcription [68]. CD90 (also known as Thy-1) as a positive marker to identify dental pulp stem cells and as a cell surface marker proposed to identify mesenchymal stem cells [69-71]. Similar differentiation patterns and results in bone tissues further help identify differences between MSCs from the dental pulp and periodontium [72–75]. Despite these differences, periodontal and pulp MSCs exhibit the same migratory behavior when cultured independently.

Notably, when periodontal and dental pulp MSCs are cocultured, periodontal MSCs divide rapidly and migrate towards dental pulp MSCs. Thus, both cell types exhibit different proliferation and migration abilities [76]. Complex intercellular interactions rather than transcriptional differences in periodontal and dental pulp MSCs determine the extent of proliferation and migration [74,76]. However, MSCs express different proteins and factors that determine their roles in tooth formation.

Homology analysis revealed that periodontal fibroblasts and MSCs highly express genes encoding collagens, matrix metalloproteinases, and osteonectin [77]. Periodontal fibroblasts express matrix GIA protein and have high affinity for calcium ions [78]. Epithelial-like cells form most periodontal cell types. These epithelial-like cells express signaling proteins such as follicular dendritic cell secreted protein (FDCSP) and WNT10A, which play significant roles in controlling the proliferation and differentiation of periodontal MSCs [79–81].

Additionally, periodontal dental epithelial stem cells have the potential to initiate and develop tooth-associated hard tissues, including the alveolar bone, dentin, and enamel [82,83]. Notably, the signals sent by epithelial stem cells influence the interactions and roles of periodontal MSCs.

Accordingly, cell states, gene, or protein expression, and other unique signatures can explain the dynamic remodeling of the periodontium. This dynamic remodeling is closely associated with tooth masticatory capability. Along with these unique signatures, standard collagen levels, extracellular matrix remodeling, and mineralization prevention are required for the active role of the periodontium [84]. The dental pulp and periodontium are heterogeneous microenvironments that exhibit unique characteristics in each tissue. These special features, including different kind of cells including mucosal immune cells, cellular interactions, oral microbiome, salivary pH and the role of food intake can all become indicators of the tissue microenvironment. The unique microenvironment of the periodontium and dental pulp can drive MSC differentiation to achieve fibroblast-like and osteogenic fates, respectively.

Aside from regeneration efforts, recent studies have also shown that understanding the tooth status can inform various other health conditions, like stress [85], cognitive impairment, and dementia [86]. Single-cell analysis of pulp and periodontal tissues to better understand these conditions may lead to breakthroughs that could advance cell-based regenerative treatments and help identify predictive biomarkers.

However, stem cell therapy should be pursued with caution. Technical challenges involved in these therapies and the associated costs must be considered before using stem cells for tooth regeneration. These considerations can limit stem cell use in tooth regeneration, providing an excellent opportunity for antibodybased drug discovery and single-dose vaccines to treat tooth anomalies.

11. Beyond conventional approaches: Antibody-based tooth regeneration therapeutics

Over the past three decades, extensive research has been conducted using tissue engineering techniques [87,88] to identify standard treatment methods. Owing to cost, safety, and technical limitations, current therapies are ineffective in promoting tooth regeneration. Takahashi's group noted the presence and benefits of activating the third dentition, which provided new research impetus and hope for potential therapeutics to regrow lost teeth in humans, as well as in animal care. They demonstrated the role of USAG-1 in the development of tooth primordia and subsequent tooth regeneration. Furthermore, their research revealed that a lack of tooth development results from congenital tooth agenesis, which is associated with different genetic abnormalities.

For this reason and its associated limitations, the traditional approach involving tissue engineering in regenerative medicine is less commonly used in tooth regeneration. As described in earlier sections, Takahashi's research outcomes suggest that targeting USAG-1 activates the third dentition and effectively treats the different clinical presentations of congenital tooth agenesis. Molecular biomarker discovery could reduce the gulf, improve patient selection for targeted therapies, and achieve precision in tooth regeneration. The latest advances in precision medicine and technologies will promote further discoveries that facilitate tooth regeneration and fulfill patient demands. Further genomic sequencing-driven studies across different ethnic groups are needed to determine and understand the heterogeneous nature of individuals with tooth anomalies. This in-depth understanding would help improve standard care and genetic counseling practices, especially in cases of familial or congenital tooth agenesis.

12. Use of predictive biomarkers

Biomarkers can predict treatment responses, identify potential individuals who may benefit from a clinical trial, and monitor treatment responses. Genomic and functional biomarker discovery has led to the growth of precision medicine, allowing researchers and clinicians to tailor treatment alternatives for patients. Understanding the role of pathogenic mutations in signaling and



Fig. 2. Picture on the left shows interacting partners of USAG-1 gene with the default settings in STRING ver 11.5. Picture on the right shows USAG-1 interacting partners including SMAD family genes, RUNX2 and others.

activation pathways is vital for understanding the response of patients to specific treatments. Next-generation sequencing, mass spectrometry, and imaging technologies can create companion and/or predictive diagnostic markers to identify patients who are most likely to benefit from a specific treatment. There is a clear unmet medical need for a companion and/or predictive diagnostic test that helps identify and stratify patients (based on age, sex, and other clinical features) who are most likely to respond to USAG-1 antibody treatment. Developing a functional biomarker assay could also assist in precision treatment by examining receptorprotein binding interactions under different conditions of tooth agenesis. Analysis of USAG-1 and its interacting partners will help identify several mutation-linked post-translational modifications and membrane attachments, demonstrating the potential for understanding the functional consequences of genetic mutations and the need to examine the protein-level effects of mutations. The dbSNP search for USAG-1 resulted in approximately 2,368 variants with or without molecular consequences (missense, frameshift, and/or synonymous), based on their genomic location (such as in introns and upstream).

Consequently, predicting interacting partners at the residue level is crucial for understanding the role of mutations in USAG-1 activity. A brief analysis of the interacting partners of USAG-1

using STRING [89] helped identify (Fig. 2) partner candidates, such as BMP family genes. Furthermore, adding more nodes to the network revealed other significant interacting partners such as the SMAD family of genes and RUNX2. Understanding the functional relevance of mutations at the protein level has rapidly improved cancer treatment [90]. Thus, translating these innovations into tooth regeneration research could improve our understanding of the role of mutations in the respective proteins. This will reveal the mechanisms by which the differentially expressed isoforms and wild-type proteins play distinct roles in identifying protein components in specific subcellular compartments or interaction partners. Additionally, comparing *mut/wt* and *wt/wt* genotypes and protein levels for any post-transcriptional and translational modifications, analyzing gain or loss of function that might affect subcellular localization, and altering downstream signaling might help distinguish diseases associated with the wild type or isoform. A MalaCards search for "tooth agenesis" resulted in ClinVar data with 418 genetic disease variations with a list of genes, such as LRP6, EDAR, MSX1, PAX9, and WNT family genes [91].

Disease-linked mutations, including somatic and germline variants, are more likely to affect protein—protein interactions. Although no clinically relevant mutations and dysfunctional residues in USAG-1/SOSTDC1 have been reported in ClinVar and

Table 1

Analysis of few gene variants highly associated with tooth agenesis.

Gene	UniProtKB accession id	Variant id	ClinVar id	ClinVar significance	Residue change	Effect on Protein
EDA1	Q92838	rs132630319	11044	Pathogenic	R65G	The mutant residue is more hydrophobic and may disturb the rigidity of the protein at this position
EDA1	Q92838	rs132630320	11045	Pathogenic	Q358E	Residue change might disturb the interaction between the binding domains and could affect protein function.
MSX1	P28360	rs121913129	14879	Pathogenic	R202P	The residue is located in a DNA binding region and will affect the function of the protein
MSX1	P28360	rs104893850	14881	Pathogenic	Q193X	Truncated and unstable protein
MSX1	P28360	rs121913130	14886	Pathogenic	M67K	This mutation introduces a charge, which can cause the repulsion of ligands or other residues with the same charge.
MSX1	P28360	rs1553877821	14887	Pathogenic	Gly28fs	NA
MSX1	P28360	rs515726227	127273	Pathogenic	NA	NA
WNT10A	Q9GZT5	NA	36972	Germline & Pathogenic	G95K	Deleterious [92]
WNT10B	000744	rs766021478	253058	Pathogenic	W262X	Truncated and unstable protein
WNT10B	000744	rs779326570	253057	Pathogenic	R211Q	Change from positive to neutral residue might disturb the binding function
SOSTDC1	Q6X4U4	rs34016012	NA	NA	Q189H	occasionally deleterious

UniProt, respectively, further understanding of its interaction with significantly associated tooth agenesis genes, such as EDA, MSX1, and *Wnt* family genes, will be valuable. Genes associated with tooth agenesis and pathological variants reported in ClinVar are listed in Table 1. The functions of the proteins encoded by these genes were analyzed using PROVEAN [93] and HOPE [94]. Although ClinVar has assigned pathogenic status to all the variants in Table 1. PROVEAN analysis showed a deleterious status only for the rs121913129 and rs121913130 variants of MSX1. Protein structural analysis using the HOPE tool [94] has revealed the significant role of individual mutations in protein structure and function. Future studies could analyze how USAG-1 and its partnering protein variants differ between responders and non-responders to anti-USAG-1 antibody treatment. Furthermore, these bioinformatics tools can help us understand the contribution of these variants to tooth agenesis, thereby validating the accuracy of *in vitro* experiments, patient samples, and previous analyses.

Technological advances in imaging will play a prominent role in the early identification of patients who may benefit from treatment with anti-USAG-1 antibodies. Toregem BioPharma has undertaken a study to develop imaging-based biomarkers for this treatment, and the results will be published for a more comprehensive scientific and public interest. Understanding the incidence rate of a pathological variant, its charge change, mutation-bearing domains, and the resulting disturbances in its interactions with binding partners will play a role in identifying genomic and functional biomarkers. Treating tooth agenesis as a complex disease while understanding hereditary patterns can help elucidate the role of multiple genes in tooth microenvironment and regeneration and the interactions of their transcribed proteins. A comprehensive approach for defining the genomic and functional basis of tooth agenesis provides a more precise and potentially personalized approach for treating tooth anomalies. Thus, examining the active role of pathogenic variants in interacting genes could contribute to the development of specific biomarker assays and identify patients who would benefit from targeted therapies for tooth regeneration.

13. Conclusions

Further research is required to develop more effective treatment strategies for tooth agenesis. Compared to dental implants and dentures, antibody-based treatment is more cost-effective and uses a naturally existing third dentition in humans at certain ages. Anti-USAG-1 antibody treatment in mice is effective for tooth regeneration and can be a breakthrough in treating tooth anomalies in humans. Companion and predictive biomarker discovery will assist in selecting patients who can benefit from precision treatment with anti-USAG-1 antibodies.

Authors' contribution

RV and AM-S prepared the manuscript. HK, YT, C-LH, KB, JT, MS, YT, and KT reviewed the manuscript. All coauthors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable Consent for publication.

Consent for publication

Not applicable

Availability of data and material

Not applicable

Authors' information

Not applicable

Funding

This study was supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research [(C):25463081 and 17K118323], AMED under Grant Numbers JP17nk0101334 and JP20ek0109397, Kyoto University, and the Fourth GAP Fund and Incubation Program.

Conflict of interest

This study was funded by Toregem BioPharma Co., Ltd.

Acknowledgments

We thank all of our laboratory members for their assistance.

References

- [1] Takahashi K, Kiso H, Saito K, Togo Y, Tsukamoto H, Huang B et al. Feasibility of gene therapy for tooth regeneration by stimulation of a third dentition, gene therapy – tools and potential applications, Francisco Martin Molina, https:// www.intechopen.com/chapters/43101; 2013. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10. 5772/52529.
- [2] Takahashi K, Kiso H, Saito K, Togo Y, Tsukamoto H, Huang B et al. Feasibility of molecularly targeted therapy for tooth regeneration, new trends in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine – official Book of the Japanese Society for Regenerative Medicine, Hideharu Hibi and Minoru Ueda, https://www. intechopen.com/chapters/47334; 2014. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/ 58904.
- [3] De Coster PJ, Marks LA, Martens LC, Huysseune A. Dental agenesis: genetic and clinical perspectives. J Oral Pathol Med 2009;38:1–17. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1600-0714.2008.00699.x.
- [4] Yin W, Bian Z. The gene network underlying hypodontia. J Dent Res 2015;94: 878-85. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034515583999.
- Juuri E, Balic A. The biology underlying abnormalities of tooth number in humans. J Dent Res 2017;96:1248–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022034517720158.
- [6] Ye X, Attaie AB. Genetic basis of nonsyndromic and syndromic tooth agenesis. J Pediatr Genet 2016;5:198–208. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1592421.
- [7] Kulkarni M, Agrawal T, Kheur S. Tooth agenesis: newer concept. J Clin Pediatr Dent 2011;36:65–9. https://doi.org/10.17796/jcpd.36.1.p74362q544210p33.
- [8] Stavropoulos D, Bartzela T, Bronkhorst E, Mohlin B, Hagberg C. Dental agenesis patterns of permanent teeth in Apert syndrome. Eur J Oral Sci 2011;119: 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0722.2011.00821.x.
- [9] Ritwik P, Patterson KK. Diagnosis of tooth agenesis in childhood and risk for neoplasms in adulthood. Ochsner J 2018;18:345–50. https://doi.org/ 10.31486/toj.18.0060.
- [10] Jonsson L, Magnusson TE, Thordarson A, Jonsson T, Geller F, Feenstra B, et al. Rare and common variants conferring risk of tooth agenesis. J Dent Res 2018;97:515-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034517750109.
- [11] Bonczek O, Balcar VJ, Šerý O. PAX9 gene mutations and tooth agenesis: a review. Clin Genet 2017;92:467-76. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12986.
- [12] Kirac D, Eraydin F, Avcilar T, Ulucan K, Özdemir F, Guney AI, et al. Effects of PAX9 and MSX1 gene variants to hypodontia, tooth size and the type of congenitally missing teeth. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-Le-Grand) 2016;62:78–84. https://doi.org/10.14715/cmb/2016.62.13.14.
- [13] Iavazzo C, Papakiritsis M, Gkegkes ID. Hypodontia and ovarian cancer: a systematic review. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2016;17:41–4. https://doi.org/ 10.5152/jtgga.2015.15174.
- [14] Abu-Hussein M, Nezar W, Mohammad Y, Peter P, Iraqi F. Clinical genetic basis of tooth agenesis. IOSR JDMS 2015. https://doi.org/10.9790/0853-141236877.
- [15] Sheikhi M, Sadeghi MA, Ghorbanizadeh S. Prevalence of congenitally missing permanent teeth in Iran. Dent Res J 2012;9(Suppl 1):105–11.
- [16] Vieira AR. Oral clefts and syndromic forms of tooth agenesis as models for genetics of isolated tooth agenesis. J Dent Res 2003;82:162–5. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/154405910308200303.
- [17] Takahashi K, Nuckolls GH, Tanaka O, Semba I, Takahashi I, Dashner R, et al. Adenovirus-mediated ectopic expression of Msx2 in even-numbered

rhombomeres cause apoptotic elimination of cranial neural crest cells en ovo. Development 1998;125:1627–35. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.125.9.1627.

- [18] Takahashi K, Nuckolls GH, Takahashi I, Nonaka K, Nagata M, Ikura T, et al. Msx2 is a repressor of chondrogenic differentiation in migratory cranial neural crest cells. Dev Dynam 2001;222:252–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/ dvdy.1185.
- [19] Murashima-Suginami A, Takahashi K, Kawabata T, Sakata T, Tsukamoto H, Sugai M, et al. Rudiment incisors survive and erupt as supernumerary teeth as a result of USAG-1 abrogation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007;359: 549–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.05.148.
- [20] Murashima-Suginami A, Takahashi K, Sakata T, Tsukamoto H, Sugai M, Yanagita M, et al. Enhanced BMP signaling results in supernumerary tooth formation in USAG-1 deficient mouse. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;369:1012–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.02.135.
- [21] Jussila M, Thesleff I. Signaling networks regulating tooth organogenesis and regeneration, and the specification of dental mesenchymal and epithelial cell lineages. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Biol 2012;4:a008425. https://doi.org/ 10.1101/cshperspect.a008425.
- [22] Kiso H, Takahashi K, Saito K, Togo Y, Tsukamoto H, Huang B, et al. Interactions between BMP-7 andUSAG-1 (uterine sensitization-associated gene-1) regulate supernumerary organformations. PLoS One 2014;vol. 9:e96938. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096938.
- [23] Togo Y, Takahashi K, Saito K, Kiso H, Tsukamoto H, Huang B, et al. Antagonistic functions of USAG-1 and RUNX2 during tooth development. PLoS One 2016;11:e0161067. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/634379.
 [24] Machida J, Goto H, Tatematsu T, Shibata A, Miyachi H, Takahashi K, et al.
- [24] Machida J, Goto H, Tatematsu T, Shibata A, Miyachi H, Takahashi K, et al. WNT10A variants isolated from Japanese patients with congenital tooth agenesis. Hum Genome Var 2017;4:17047. https://doi.org/10.1038/ hgv.2017.47.
- [25] Saito K, Takahashi K, Huang B, Asahara M, Kiso H, Togo Y, et al. Loss of stemness, EMT, and supernumerary tooth formation in Cebpb-/-Runx2+/murine incisors. Sci Rep 2018;8:5169. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23515-y.
- [26] Kiso H, Takahashi K, Mishima S, Murashima-Suginami A, Kakeno A, Yamazaki T, et al. Third dentition is the main cause of premolar supernumerary tooth formation. J Dent Res 2019;98:968–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0022034519858282.
- [27] Mishima S, Takahashi K, Kiso H, Murashima-Suginami A, Tokita Y, Jo JI, et al. Local application of Usag-1 siRNA can promote tooth regeneration in Runx2deficient mice. Sci Rep 2021;11:13674. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-93256-y.
- [28] Gene expression in tooth (WWW database), http://bite-it.helsinki.fi. Developmental Biology Programme of the University of Helsinki, 1996–2007.
- [29] Takahashi K, Kiso H, Murashima-Suginami A, Tokita Y, Sugai M, Tabata Y, et al. Development of tooth regenerative medicine strategies by controlling the number of teeth using targeted molecular therapy. Inflamm Regen 2020;40: 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-020-00130-x.
- [30] Jensen BL, Kreiborg S. Development of the dentition in cleidocranial dysplasia. J Oral Pathol Med 1990;19:89–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0714.1990.tb00803.x.
- [31] Ooë T. Epithelial anlagen of human third dentition and their migrations in the mandible and maxilla. Okajimas Folia Anat Jpn 1969;46:243–51. https:// doi.org/10.2535/ofaj1936.46.5_243.
- [32] Hillson SW. Teeth manuals in archaeology series. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1986.
- [33] Leche W. Studienuber die Entwicklung des Zahnsstemsbei den Saugetieren. Morphol JB 1893;19:502–74.
- [34] Rose C. Uberesteeinervorzeitigenpralaktealen und einerviertenZahnreihebeim Menschen. Oester-ungarViertjschrZhik. 1895;11:45–50.
- [35] Ahrens H. Entwicklung der menschlichenZahne. AnatHefte 1913;48:169–267.
- [36] Hewitt JE, Clark LN, Ivens A, Williamson R. Structure and sequence of the human homeobox gene HOX7. Genomics 1991;11:670–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0888-7543(91)90074-0.
- [37] Shetty S, Takahashi T, Matsui H, Ayengar R, Raghow R. Transcriptional autorepression of Msx1 gene is mediated by interactions of Msx1 protein with a multi-protein transcriptional complex containing TATA-binding protein, Sp1 and cAMP-response-element-binding protein-binding protein (CBP/p300). Biochem J 1999;339:751–8. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3390751.
- [38] Catron KM, Zhang H, Marshall SC, Inostroza JA, Wilson JM, Abate C. Transcriptional repression by Msx-1 does not require homeodomain DNA-binding sites. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:861–71. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.15.2.861.
- [39] Zhang H, Catron KM, Abate-Shen C. A role for the Msx-1 homeodomain in transcriptional regulation: residues in the N-terminal arm mediate TATA binding protein interaction and transcriptional repression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:1764–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.5.1764.
- [40] Zhang H, Hu G, Wang H, Sciavolino P, Iler N, Shen MM, et al. Heterodimerization of Msx and Dlx homeoproteins results in functional antagonism. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:2920–32. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.17.5.2920.
- [41] Chen Y, Bei M, Woo I, Satokata I, Maas R. Msx1 controls inductive signaling in mammalian tooth morphogenesis. Development 1996;122:3035–44. https:// doi.org/10.1242/dev.122.10.3035.
- [42] Vieira AR, Meira R, Modesto A, Murray JC. MSX1, PAX9, and TGFA contribute to tooth agenesis in humans. J Dent Res 2004;83:723-7. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/154405910408300913.

- [43] Gong Y, Feng HL, He HY, Ge YJ. Correlation between the phenotype and genotype of tooth agenesis patients by tooth agenesis code. Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao 2010;32:254–9. https://doi.org/10.3881/j.issn.1000-503X.2010.03.003.
- [44] Kim JW, Simmer JP, Lin BP, Hu JC. Novel MSX1 frameshift causes autosomaldominant oligodontia. J Dent Res 2006;85:267–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 154405910608500312.
- [45] Lidral AC, Reising BC. The role of MSX1 in human tooth agenesis. J Dent Res 2002;81:274–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910208100410.
- [46] Vastardis H. The genetics of human tooth agenesis: new discoveries for understanding dental anomalies. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2000;117: 650–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-5406(00)70173-9.
- [47] Peters H, Balling R. Teeth: where and how to make them. Trends Genet 1999;15:59–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-9525(98)01662-x.
- [48] Thesleff I. The genetic basis of normal and abnormal craniofacial development. Acta Odontol Scand 1998;56:321–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 000163598428248.
- [49] Vastardis H, Karimbux N, Guthua SW, Seidman JG, Seidman CE. A human MSX1 homeodomain missense mutation causes selective tooth agenesis. Nat Genet 1996;13:417–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0896-417.
- [50] Lee H, Habas R, Abate-Shen C. MSX1 cooperates with histone H1b for inhibition of transcription and myogenesis. Science 2004;304:1675–8. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.1098096.
- [51] Underhill DA. Genetic and biochemical diversity in the Pax gene family. Biochem Cell Biol 2000;78:629–38. https://doi.org/10.1139/000-077.
- [52] Dahl E, Koseki H, Balling R. Pax genes and organogenesis. Bioessays 1997;19: 755-65. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.950190905.
- [53] Neubüser A, Peters H, Balling R, Martin GR. Antagonistic interactions between FGF and BMP signaling pathways: a mechanism for positioning the sites of tooth formation. Cell 1997;90:247–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80333-5.
- [54] Mostowska A, Kobielak A, Trzeciak WH. Molecular basis of non-syndromic tooth agenesis: mutations of MSX1 and PAX9 reflect their role in patterning human dentition. Eur J Oral Sci 2003;111:365–70. https://doi.org/10.1034/ j.1600-0722.2003.00069.x.
- [55] Stockton DW, Das P, Goldenberg M, D'Souza RN, Patel PI. Mutation of PAX9 is associated with oligodontia. Nat Genet 2000;24:18–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/71634.
- [56] Klein ML, Nieminen P, Lammi L, Niebuhr E, Kreiborg S. Novel mutation of the initiation codon of PAX9 causes oligodontia. J Dent Res 2005;84:43–7. https:// doi.org/10.1177/154405910508400107.
- [57] Das P, Stockton DW, Bauer C, Shaffer LG, D'Souza RN, Wright T, et al. Haploinsufficiency of PAX9 is associated with autosomal dominant hypodontia. Hum Genet 2002;110:371–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-002-0699-1.
- [58] Matalova E, Fleischmannova J, Sharpe PT, Tucker AS. Tooth agenesis: from molecular genetics to molecular dentistry. J Dent Res 2008;87:617–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/154405910808700715.
- [59] Murashima-Suginami A, Kiso H, Tokita Y, Mihara E, Nambu Y, Uozumi R, et al. Anti-USAG-1 therapy for tooth regeneration through enhanced BMP signaling. Sci Adv 2021;7:eabf1798. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abf1798.
- [60] Ahn Y, Sanderson BW, Klein OD, Krumlauf R. Inhibition of Wnt signaling by Wise (Sostdc1) and negative feedback from Shh controls tooth number and patterning. Development 2010;137:3221–31. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.054668.
- [61] Li C, Lan Y, Krumlauf R, Jiang R. Modulating Wnt signaling rescues palate morphogenesis in Pax9 mutant mice. J Dent Res 2017;96:1273–81. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0022034517719865.
- [62] Jia S, Zhou J, Fanelli C, Wee Y, Bonds J, Schneider P, et al. Small-molecule Wnt agonists correct cleft palates in Pax9 mutant mice in utero. Development 2017;144:3819–28. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.157750.
- [63] Pummila M, Fliniaux I, Jaatinen R, James MJ, Laurikkala J, Schneider P, et al. Ectodysplasin has a dual role in ectodermal organogenesis: inhibition of Bmp activity and induction of Shh expression. Development 2007;134:117–25. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02708.
- [64] Wright JT, Fete M, Schneider H, Zinser M, Koster MI, Clarke AJ, et al. Ectodermal dysplasias: classification and organization by phenotype, genotype and molecular pathway. Am J Med Genet 2019;179:442–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ajmg.a.61045.
- [65] Zhang Y, Tomann P, Andl T, Gallant NM, Huelsken J, Jerchow B, et al. Reciprocal requirements for EDA/EDAR/NF-kappaB and Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathways in hair follicle induction. Dev Cell 2009;17:49–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.05.011.
- [66] Kowalczyk-Quintas C, Willen L, Dang AT, Sarrasin H, Tardivel A, Hermes K, et al. Generation and characterization of function-blocking anti-ectodysplasin A (EDA) monoclonal antibodies that induce ectodermal dysplasia. J Biol Chem 2014;289:4273–85. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.535740.
- [67] Tucker AS, Matthews KL, Sharpe PT. Transformation of tooth type induced by inhibition of BMP signaling. Science 1998;6:1136-8. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.282.5391.1136.
- [68] Mitsiadis TA, Pagella P, Cantù C. Early determination of the periodontal domain by the wnt-antagonist frzb/sfrp3. Front Physiol 2017;8:936. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00936.
- [69] Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells.

The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 2006;8:315–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/14653240600855905.

- [70] Ledesma-Martínez E, Mendoza-Núñez VM, Santiago-Osorio E. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental pulp: a review. Stem Cell Int 2016;2016: 4709572. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4709572.
- [71] Lin CS, Xin ZC, Dai J, Lue TF. Commonly used mesenchymal stem cell markers and tracking labels: limitations and challenges. Histol Histopathol 2013;28: 1109–16. https://doi.org/10.14670/HH-28.1109.
- [72] Bai Y, Bai Y, Matsuzaka K, Hashimoto S, Kokubu E, Wang X, et al. Formation of bone-like tissue by dental follicle cells co-cultured with dental papilla cells. Cell Tissue Res 2010;342:221–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-010-1046-9.
- [73] d'Aquino R, Tirino V, Desiderio V, Studer M, De Angelis GC, Laino L, et al. Human neural crest-derived postnatal cells exhibit remarkable embryonic attributes either in vitro or in vivo. Eur Cell Mater 2011;21:304–16. https:// doi.org/10.22203/ecm.v021a23.
- [74] Schiraldi C, Stellavato A, D'Agostino A, Tirino V, d'Aquino R, Woloszyk A, et al. Fighting for territories: time-lapse analysis of dental pulp and dental follicle stem cells in co-culture reveals specific migratory capabilities. Eur Cell Mater 2012;24:426–40. https://doi.org/10.22203/ecm.v024a30.
- [75] Yagyuu T, Ikeda E, Ohgushi H, Tadokoro M, Hirose M, Maeda M, et al. Hard tissue-forming potential of stem/progenitor cells in human dental follicle and dental papilla. Arch Oral Biol 2010;55:68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.archoralbio.2009.10.011.
- [76] Shellard A, Mayor R. Integrating chemical and mechanical signals in neural crest cell migration. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2019;57:16–24. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.gde.2019.06.004.
- [77] Luan X, Ito Y, Holliday S, Walker C, Daniel J, Galang TM, et al. Extracellular matrixmediated tissue remodeling following axial movement of teeth. J Histochem Cytochem 2007;55:127–40. https://doi.org/10.1369/jhc.6A7018.2006.
- [78] Kaipatur NR, Murshed M, McKee MD. Matrix gla protein inhibition of tooth mineralization. J Dent Res 2008;87:839–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 154405910808700907.
- [79] Wei N, Yu H, Yang S, Yang X, Yuan Q, Man Y, et al. Effect of FDC-SP on the phenotype expression of cultured periodontal ligament cells. Arch Med Sci 2011;7:235–41. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2011.22073.
- [80] Xu M, Horrell J, Snitow M, Cui J, Gochnauer H, Syrett CM, et al. WNT10A mutation causes ectodermal dysplasia by impairing progenitor cell proliferation and KLF4-mediated differentiation. Nat Commun 2017;8:15397. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15397.
- [81] Yu M, Liu Y, Wang Y, Wong SW, Wu J, Liu H, et al. Epithelial Wnt10a is essential for tooth root furcation morphogenesis. J Dent Res 2020;99:311–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034519897607.
- [82] Athanassiou-Papaefthymiou M, Papagerakis P, Papagerakis S. Isolation and characterization of human adult epithelial stem cells from the periodontal

ligament. J Dent Res 2015;94:1591-600. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034515606401.

- [83] Tsunematsu T, Fujiwara N, Yoshida M, Takayama Y, Kujiraoka S, Qi G, et al. Human odontogenic epithelial cells derived from epithelial rests of Malassez possess stem cell properties. Lab Invest 2016;96:1063–75. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/labinvest.2016.85.
- [84] Takimoto A, Kawatsu M, Yoshimoto Y, Kawamoto T, Seiryu M, Takano-Yamamoto T, et al. Scleraxis and osterix antagonistically regulate tensile force-responsive remodeling of the periodontal ligament and alveolar bone. Development 2015;142:787–96. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.116228.
- [85] Lemmers SAM, Dirks W, Street SE, Ngoubangoye B, Herbert A, Setchell JM. Dental microstructure records life history events: a histological study of mandrills (Mandrillus sphinx) from Gabon. J Hum Evol 2021;158:103046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2021.103046.
- [86] Qi X, Zhu Z, Plasman BL, Wu B. Dose-response meta-analysis on tooth loss with the risk of cognitive impairment and dementia. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2021;22:2039–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2021.05.009.
- [87] Ohazama A, Modino SA, Miletich I, Sharpe PT. Stem-cell-based tissue engineering of murine teeth. J Dent Res 2004;83:518–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 154405910408300702.
- [88] Nakao K, Morita R, Saji Y, Ishida K, Tomita Y, Ogawa M, et al. The development of a bioengineered organ germ method. Nat Methods 2007;4:227–30. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nmeth1012.
- [89] von Mering C, Jensen LJ, Snel B, Hooper SD, Krupp M, Foglierini M, et al. STRING: known and predicted protein-protein associations, integrated and transferred across organisms. Nucleic Acids Res 2005;33:D433-7. https:// doi.org/10.1093/nar/gki005.
- [90] Swaney DL, Ramms DJ, Wang Z, Park J, Goto Y, Soucheray M, et al. A protein network map of head and neck cancer reveals PIK3CA mutant drug sensitivity. Science 2021;374:eabf2911. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf2911.
- [91] Rappaport N, Fishilevich S, Nudel R, Twik M, Belinky F, Plaschkes I, et al. Rational confederation of genes and diseases: NGS interpretation via Gene-Cards, MalaCards and VarElect. Biomed Eng Online 2017;16(Suppl 1):72.
- [92] van den Boogaard MJ, Créton M, Bronkhorst Y, van der Hout A, Hennekam E, Lindhout D, et al. Mutations in WNT10A are present in more than half of isolated hypodontia cases. J Med Genet 2012;49:327-31. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/jmedgenet-2012-100750.
- [93] Choi Y, Sims GE, Murphy S, Miller JR, Chan AP. Predicting the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels. PLoS One 2012;7(10):e46688. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046688.
- [94] Venselaar H, Te Beek TA, Kuipers RK, Hekkelman ML, Vriend G. Protein structure analysis of mutations causing inheritable diseases. An e-Science approach with life scientist friendly interfaces. BMC Bioinf 2010;11:548. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-548.